THE MOLECULAR BASIS OF OVARIAN CELL DEATH DURING GERM CELL ATTRITION, FOLLICULAR ATRESIA, AND LUTEOLYSIS

Jonathan L. Tilly, Ph.D.¹

The Vincent Center for Reproductive Biology, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Massachusetts General Hospital/ Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA 02114 USA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Physiological Cell Death: Mechanisms and Genes
 - 2.1. Introduction
 - 2.2. The bcl-2 Gene Family
 - 2.3. Reactive Oxygen Species
 - 2.4. Transcriptional Regulators
 - 2.5. Cytoplasmic Proteases

3. Mechanisms and Effectors of Cell Death in the Ovary

3.1. Peri-Natal Germ Cell Attrition

- 3.1.1. Identification of Physiological Cell Death in Germ Cells
- 3.1.2. Hormonal Control of Germ Cell Survival
- 3.1.3. Intracellular Effectors of Survival Signals in Germ Cells
- 3.2. Post-Natal Follicular Atresia
 - 3.2.1. Occurrence and Hormonal Regulation of Apoptosis in Follicles
 - 3.2.2. The bcl-2 Gene Family and Follicular Atresia
 - 3.2.3. Oxidative Stress During Atresia
 - 3.2.4. Transcriptional Regulators in Granulosa Cells
 - 3.2.5. Protease Activation During Apoptosis in Granulosa Cells
- 3.3. Regression of the Corpus Luteum (CL)
 - 3.3.1. Cell Death in the CL
 - 3.3.1. Control of Cell Death During Luteolysis
- 4. Conclusions
- 5. Acknowledgments
- 6. References

1. ABSTRACT

Physiological cell death mechanisms (termed apoptosis, programmed cell death, active cell death, and biological cell death) play a fundamental role in the cyclic function of the ovary as it strives in each cycle to ovulate a viable egg for fertilization. Healthy ovarian follicles and corpora lutea are also required for the secretion of steroids to prepare the female reproductive tract for embryo implantation and gestation. Using molecular biological approaches combined with classic histological examinations, several recent studies have confirmed the occurrence of apoptosis in female germ cells (oogonia and oocytes) during fetal ovarian development, granulosa cells during follicular atresia, and cells of the corpus luteum during luteolysis.

Additionally, new light has been shed on the

purpose of this review to discuss the concepts of physiological cell death as they relate to ovarian function, and to offer testable hypotheses concerning the intracellular effector pathways responsible for directing ovarian cell fate in response to changes in hormonal stimuli.

2. PHYSIOLOGICAL CELL DEATH: MECHANISMS AND GENES

2.1. Introduction.

The concept of apoptosis suggests that at some point in the destiny of any given cell, an irreversible cascade of gene-directed events is set in motion which permits efficient removal of that cell from its neighboring counterparts without a disruption in normal tissue function (reviewed in 1-3). Many of the features of physiological cell death have been remarkably conserved through evolution such that the existence of a universal pathway for execution of the cell suicide command has been proposed (1-3). Unlike the random process of pathological cell death (most often referred to as necrosis) which occurs in contiguous tracts of cells following exposure to highly noxious stimuli, apoptosis proceeds in an orderly fashion and in general does not elicit an immune response at the site of cell loss (4,5). At its most

Received 12/14/95; Accepted 12/18/95

¹ To whom correspondence should be addressed, at The Vincent Center for Reproductive Biology, VBK137F-GYN, Massachusetts General Hospital/Harvard Medical School, Fruit Street, Boston, MA 02114 USA Tel: (617) 724-2182; Fax: (617) 726-7548.Email: tilly.jonathan@mgh.harvard.edu potential gene products which function to precisely coordinate the balance of life and death in the ovary. It is the

<u>Name</u>	Role in Cell Death	Mechanism of Action? ²	Reference
BCL-2	Inhibition	Cellular Redox State	31,32,33
		Calcium Homeostasis	34
		Ras Interaction	35
		BAX Interaction	14,18,28,29
BAX	Activation	BCL-2/BCL-X _L Interaction	14,18,28,29
BCL-X _L	Inhibition	BAX Interaction	19,27,28
BCL-X _S	Activation	BCL-2 Interaction	19,27,28
MCL-1	Inhibition	BAX Interaction	20,28
BAD	Activation	BCL-2/BCL-X _L Interaction	22
BAG-1	Inhibition	BCL-2 Interaction	21
BAK	Activation	BCL-2/BCL-X _L Interaction	24,25,26
CED-9	Inhibition	Unknown (BCL-2 homolog)	17
SOD	Inhibition	Anti-Oxidant Enzyme	81
GSHPx	Inhibition	Anti-Oxidant Enzyme	31,81
Catalase	Inhibition	Anti-Oxidant Enzyme	81
p53	Activation	bcl-2/bax Gene Transcription	40,43,44,45
c-myc	Activation	Gene Transcription	41,42
ICE	Activation	Proteolysis	48
$ICH-1_L$	Activation	Proteolysis	49
ICH-1s	Inhibition	ICH-1 _L Antagonism	49
ICE _{rel} II ³	Activation	Proteolysis	51,52,53
ICE _{rel} III	Activation	Proteolysis	53
MCH-2	Activation	Proteolysis	54
CED-3	Activation	Unknown (ICE homolog)	47
Calpain	Activation	Proteolysis	55

Table 1. Reported Regulators of Physiological Cell Death¹

¹This is only a partial listing of proteins which have been implicated in activating or inhibiting the cell suicide pathway.

²The precise mechanisms of action of the majority of cell death regulators indicated are unknown. The examples provided are derived from studies currently available in the literature, and probably do not represent the full spectrum of biological functions. ³The protein referred to as $ICE_{rel}II$ (ref. 53) has also been termed ICH-2 (ref. 51) and TX (ref. 52).

basic level, a cell dying by apoptosis exhibits a marked reduction in cytoplasmic volume coincident with or immediately followed by nuclear pyknosis resulting from high and low molecular weight genomic DNA cleavage. Intracellular organelles and nuclear remnants are then neatly packaged into plasma membrane-bound vesicles, referred to as apoptotic bodies, and phagocytized by neighboring cells or resident macrophages (4,5). The time course for apoptosis, from the first discernible morphological change to phagocytic removal, can be remarkably short (6). Thus, much of our knowledge of the features of apoptosis have been derived from *in vitro* studies of isolated cells as the detection of apoptosis *in vivo* is hindered by the efficiency and rapidity of phagocytic clean-up.

Physiological cell death occurs in essentially all multicellular organisms. Functions of cell death include embryonic pattern formation (7), development of the male and female reproductive tracts (8,9), establishment of balanced pre- and post-synaptic neuronal junctions in the developing brain (reviewed in 10), removal of autoreactive T-cells from the thymocyte cell repertoire (reviewed in 11), regression of post-lactational breast tissue (12), and a general homeostatic maintenance of proper cell numbers in

most tissues (1,2,4). Of equal importance, disruptions in the normal course of cell death have been linked to many pathological disorders ranging from tumorigenesis (abnormally low cell death rates; (13)) to Alzheimer's disease (excessive cell death; (10)). This has served to fuel the fire for research by a large number of investigators on the underlying events that can be manipulated to regain control of normal cell death in the affected tissue. The search for these clues to life and death has primarily centered on identification of proteins that either promote or prevent activation of the cell suicide pathway in a variety of tissues (Table 1) (reviewed in 2,3,14,15). The number of genes which encode proteins involved in the regulation of apoptosis has grown at an almost exponential rate, albeit much less is known of their mechanisms of action.

For the sake of clarity and brevity in this review, a sampling of the genes identified thus far will be grouped into four classes for subsequent discussion: 1) proteins encoded by members of the *bcl-2* gene family; 2) oxidative stress response factors; 3) transcriptional regulators; and 4) cytoplasmic proteases including calpain and members of the interleukin-1 β -converting enzyme (ICE) gene family.

2.2. The *bcl-2* Gene Family.

Proteins encoded by bcl-2 and related genes are probably the most well-studied cell death regulatory factors (reviewed in 14,16). The bcl-2 (B-cell leukemia/lymphoma-2) proto-oncogene was the first negative regulator of apoptosis reported. This gene was originally identified through analysis of the human t(14;18) (q32;q21) chromosomal translocation which predisposes affected individuals to the development of B-cell lymphomas. This translocation juxtaposes the bcl-2 gene with the immunoglobulin G heavy chain locus, leading to deregulated over-expression of bcl-2 (14). Following reports of this initial correlation between high levels of bcl-2 expression and tumorigenesis, numerous studies have confirmed the death repressor role of the BCL-2 protein in a variety of cell types and under a spectrum of conditions known to trigger cell death (14,16). These data are more intriguing when taken with the fact that BCL-2 was found to prevent apoptosis without altering proliferation rates, a function not attributed to any other protein at the time. Of additional note, a homolog of bcl-2 (termed ced-9) has been characterized in the nematode, Caenorhabditis elegans. Through elegant gene mutation studies, the protein encoded by the *ced-9* gene has been shown to play a fundamental role in cell death inhibition in the worm during development, analogous to the death repressor activity of BCL-2 in vertebrates (17).

The proposed function of BCL-2 as a regulator of apoptosis also served as the catalyst for subsequent investigations by increasing numbers of laboratories to characterize other proteins involved in the cell death cascade. Two of these initial efforts led to simultaneous reports of the first additional members of the bcl-2 gene family, namely the bax (bcl-2-associated-x gene; (18)) and bcl-x (bcl-2-related gene-x; (19)) genes. The BAX protein was isolated via its ability to bind to, and thus coimmunoprecipitate with, BCL-2. Analysis of the function of BAX through gene transfer experiments revealed its actions to be that of a death susceptibility factor, initially believed to act by countering the death repressor activity of BCL-2 (18). However, it is now thought that BAX directly leads to cell death following the formation of BAX:BAX homodimers, a process that can be disrupted by the presence of BCL-2 (14). At the same time that bax was reported, another bcl-2 homolog termed *bcl-x* was identified in chicken lymphoid cells by low stringency hybridization cDNA cloning. Interestingly, the human cDNA was also cloned in this study; however, unlike its avian counterpart, the human bclx gene appears to undergo alternative splicing to yield two messenger RNA variants: a long isoform (encoding BCL-X_L) which functions like BCL-2 to suppress apoptosis, and a truncated or short isoform (encoding BCL-X_S) which can mimic the actions of BAX by antagonizing BCL-2-promoted cellular survival (19). Subsequent to these findings, several additional members of the bcl-2 gene family have been isolated (20-26), and the proteins encoded by these genes have been shown to interact with each other to direct cell fate (24-28). Additionally, precise functional domains present within the sequences of BCL-2 and related factors have been characterized and appear prerequisite for protein:protein interaction and the regulation of cell death (29).

The function of any member of the BCL-2 family remains an area of intensive investigation as very little data exist regarding the actions of these cell death regulatory proteins within the cell. The localization of BCL-2 within intracellular membranes, particularly those of the mitochondria, initially suggested that this factor may regulate the reduction-oxidation (redox) state of the cell (30). Assuming this to be the case, two independent studies subsequently reported that over-expression of *bcl-2* protects cells from death induced by reactive oxygen species (31,32). On the other hand, a follow-up study suggested that BCL-2 may actually function as a pro-oxidant factor, thus conveying its protective effects indirectly through induction of the cell's normal oxidative stress response repertoire of defense enzymes (33). In any case, it should be noted that the regulation of cellular redox is probably not the only mechanism by which BCL-2 acts, as additional studies have implicated this protein in calcium homeostasis (34) and growth factor-associated signaling events (35).

2.3. Reactive Oxygen Species.

The link of BCL-2 to reactive oxygen species provides an interesting association between this cell death regulator and the second category of genes to be discussed, namely members of the oxidative stress response gene family. Reactive oxygen species are generated in all cells as a consequence of normal metabolic function, or as a result of ligand-activated receptors tied to membrane phospholipid metabolism (reviewed in 36). Members of this gene family include three forms of superoxide dismutase enzyme (secreted, mitochondrial and cytosolic) which convert superoxide anion radical to peroxide intermediates, as well as catalase and glutathione peroxidase which are responsible for metabolism of peroxides to water. Extensive cellular damage occurs in response to accumulation of reactive oxygen species or their intermediates, and recent data indicate that the end-result of this damage in most cases is the induction of apoptosis (reviewed in 37). Additionally, disruptions in nuclear DNA integrity (e.g. formation of 8hydroxydeoxyguanosine moieties) elicited by free radicals provide an important link to the next family of cell death genes to be discussed, the transcriptional regulators of cell death.

2.4 Transcriptional Regulators.

Transcriptional regulators represent an interesting family of proteins as these factors, unlike BCL-2, can modulate both mitosis and apoptosis. Two of these proteins in particular, p53 and c-myc, have been directly linked to the induction of apoptosis (38-42). Of the target genes affected by nuclear accumulation of p53 or c-myc, members of the *bcl-2* gene family have emerged as primary targets for transcriptional regulation. Using both *in vivo* and *in vitro* approaches, the p53 protein has been reported to bind sequence-specific enhancer regions in the *bax* gene promoter and repressor elements in the *bcl-2* gene (43-45). Thus, accumulation of p53 in the nucleus of a compromised cell is thought to trigger a disrupted balance between *bax* (increased) and *bcl-2* (decreased) expression, a scenario known to predispose a cell to apoptosis activation (18). A primary stimulus for stabilization and nuclear translocation of p53 is DNA damage (46), such as that resulting from attack by reactive oxygen species (36). If this is the case, cellular damage induced by uncontrolled oxidative stress may lead to apoptosis as a consequence of p53-mediated alterations in expression of cell death-associated genes. The role of c-myc in regulation of the expression of *bcl-2* and related genes is not as well characterized; however, the *bax* gene contains four consensus sequences for c-myc binding which suggests that this transcription factor may as well act, at least in part, via altered expression of these target cell death genes (45).

2.5. Cytoplasmic Proteases.

The fourth family of genes, composed primarily of cytoplasmic proteases, are among the most recently identified components of the cell death pathway. Similar to the ced-9/bcl-2 homology discussed earlier, our knowledge of the role of many of these proteases in cell death stemmed from initial studies of the protease homolog in C. elegans, CED-3 (47). Genetic mutation of the ced-3 gene leads to a persistence of unwanted cells in the worm due to a loss of normal cell death during development. Sequence homology analysis of ced-3 with known vertebrate genes revealed a striking level of similarity with the vertebrate cysteine protease, interleukin-1 β -converting enzyme (ICE; (47)). Following the initial observation that CED-3 and ICE are likely homologs, numerous reports have described a rapidly growing family of ICE-related proteases that possess two important conserved features: a pentapeptide motif (QACRG) which likely serves as the catalytic domain, as well as cleavage specificity at aspartate residues (reviewed in 15). To date, members of this family include ICE, ICEand-*ced-3*-homolog-1 (Ich-1), cysteine-protease-P32 (CPP32), ICE-relative-II (ICE_{rel}II; also called Tx or Ich-2), ICE_{rel}III, and Mch-2 (48-54). Various approaches leading to enhanced or reduced activity of ICE-related proteases in cells have provided compelling evidence that members of this family of cell death regulators play an important, if not prerequisite, role in apoptosis in vertebrate species (15), analogous to that described for the *ced-3* gene product in C. elegans (47).

Not all cytoplasmic proteases implicated in cell death, however, belong to the ICE gene family. In many cell types, calpain has also been proposed as a mediator of apoptosis (55). This calcium-activated protease is ubiquitously expressed in most cells, and exists in two forms within the cell. These two forms are composed of a common large subunit derived from a single gene bound to isoformspecific small subunits encoded by separate genes. Depending upon the level of cytoplasmic calcium required to activate each form of the enzyme, the two forms of calpain can be easily segregated (reviewed in 56). Interestingly, the regulation of calpain activity does not reside solely at the level of gene expression as most cells also express a specific inhibitor of calpain termed calpastatin (56). Therefore, reminiscent of the BCL-2:BAX rheostat described earlier, the balance of calpain to calpastatin is likely an important determinant of whether active calpain is available for execution of the cell death command.

The targets of ICE-related proteases and calpain during apoptosis are diverse, but turn out to be very logical when evaluated in hindsight (reviewed in 15). In addition to activating each other, enzymes encoded by members of the ICE gene family have been reported to cleave proteins involved in DNA repair (57,58) and messenger RNA processing (59), as well as structural components of the nuclear matrix (60). Along these same lines, targets for calpain include cytoskeletal proteins (actin, fodrin) and gap junction proteins (56,61). Thus, a scan of this representative list of proteins which are targets for protease attack during cell death reveals a common or underlying theme, namely that all of these proteins are required for the maintenance of normal cell structure, function and homeostasis.

3. MECHANISMS AND EFFECTORS OF CELL DEATH IN THE OVARY

3.1. Peri-Natal Germ Cell Attrition

3.1.1. Identification of Physiological Cell Death in Germ Cells.

Despite the fact that the regulation of cell death has been extensively studied in several extragonadal tissues, only recently have reproductive biologists realized that the cyclic nature of germ cell development in the ovary and testis is also very tightly linked to the process of apoptosis. At one of the earliest points during embryonic ovarian development, when oogonia are undergoing mitosis to increase the total germ cell pool, large numbers of these cells are lost through degeneration (62-64). Additionally, oogonia that escape death during mitotic division may still be lost via apoptosis during the first phases of meiosis when the diploid oogonia mature into haploid oocytes (62,64-66). Although the reasons for the massive destruction of oogonia and oocytes remains a mystery, it has been estimated that the fate of up to two-thirds of the ovarian germ cell pool present during embryogenesis is degeneration. Moreover, it is now known that oogonia and oocytes which degenerate in vivo or in vitro exhibit many of the morphological and biochemical criteria associated with an apoptotic event. These features include chromatin margination and fragmentation with the resultant nuclear pyknosis, cellular condensation, and induction of cell death markers such as tissue transglutaminase (67-69).

3.1.2. Hormonal Control of Germ Cell Survival.

From a regulatory standpoint, somatic cell-derived growth factors, most notably the product of the *Steel* gene (stem cell growth factor/SCF or kit ligand), appear to be critically important for the maintenance of germ cell survival. Data which strongly support this concept come from both *in vivo* (naturally-occurring mutations in the genes encoding SCF or the SCF receptor, *c-kit*) and *in vitro* (cultures of primordial germ cells) analyses. It has been known for almost forty years that mutations in the SCF and *c-kit* genes lead to gonadal dysgenesis and sterility (70). The fundamental role of SCF in germ cell survival has been

Mechanisms of ovarian cell death.

further substantiated by studies of SCF effects on primordial germ cells cultured *in vitro*. As anticipated from the genetic mutation studies, the presence of SCF prevents apoptosis which occurs in germ cells deprived of tropic hormone support (68). Interestingly, SCF, although critical for germ cell survival, does not by itself markedly alter germ cell proliferation, suggesting that the actions of SCF in the developing ovary must be complemented by the presence of additional growth factors.

3.1.3. Intracellular Effectors of Survival Signals in Germ Cells.

The intracellular pathways which mediate the antiapoptotic effects of SCF (and other factors?) in germ cells are not well-understood. A recent report has linked activation of the retinoic acid receptor pathway to enhanced germ cell proliferation (71), suggesting that downstream genes which are targets for transcriptional regulation by the ligand-activated retinoic acid receptor may be important components of oogonium and oocyte survival. The identity of these genes have yet to be elucidated. However, recent findings obtained from analysis of ovaries collected from mice possessing a targeted disruption of the bcl-2 gene have revealed that a loss of BCL-2 bioactivity is associated with a compromised endowment of oocytes and primordial follicles (72). Based on the similar phenotypes observed in ovaries of mice which lack SCF, c-kit or BCL-2, it has been proposed that SCF mediates germ cell survival, at least in part, via enhanced expression of bcl-2 (72). Concrete proof of this hypothesis, however, awaits further testing.

3.2. Post-Natal Follicular Atresia

3.2.1. Occurrence and Hormonal Regulation of Apoptosis in Follicles.

Once follicles are established in the ovary during the peri-natal period, germ cell loss occurs primarily as an indirect consequence of atresia of follicles not selected for ovulation. In all species studied thus far, the initiation of apoptosis in granulosa cells is one of the earliest signs of follicular demise (reviewed in 73). The occurrence of apoptosis in granulosa cells of atretic follicles has been documented by both morphological (74,75) and biochemical criteria (76,77), and the use of DNA oligonucleosomes to identify apoptotic cells has recently paved the way for a large number of studies concerning the regulation of atresia (see below). Data derived from these efforts have demonstrated that, in vivo, pituitary-derived gonadotropins (follicle-stimulating hormone or FSH, luteinizing hormone or LH) are the primary endocrine factors responsible for inhibiting apoptosis in granulosa cells of developing follicles (78,79). These findings have been confirmed and extended through analysis of apoptosis in granulosa cells of ovarian follicles incubated in vitro as a model for elucidating the events associated with atresia (80,81). Moreover, the ability of FSH and LH to suppress apoptosis and atresia likely involves augmented signaling through intrafollicular growth factor pathways (78,80), which in turn may be tied to progesterone as a final autocrine mediator (82). It should also be pointed out that gonadotropin-independent pathways probably contribute to the maintenance of granulosa cell survival (83,84), collectively demonstrating the complexity of events which surround the fate of any given follicle. The involvement of multiple hormonal signaling pathways in apoptosis regulation has been reported for granulosa cells of the avian ovary as well (83,85). These findings suggest that, regardless of species, the final step which either activates or represses widespread apoptosis during atresia is dependent upon the prior interpretation of many extracellular signals.

3.2.2. The *bcl-2* Gene Family and Follicular Atresia.

The intracellular effectors responsible for the regulation of apoptosis in granulosa cells are no less complex. Studies towards this endpoint have, however, been greatly facilitated by the wealth of information available in the literature concerning the genes involved in apoptosis in cells of extragonadal tissues (see previous section and Table 1). Using these data as a foundation, initial investigations centered on the potential role of BCL-2 and related factors in deciding the fate of rat granulosa cells during follicular development (79). Results from these studies indicated that increased expression of the bax death susceptibility gene coincides with the induction of apoptosis in granulosa cells during atresia both in vivo and in vitro (79). The role of BAX in mediating granulosa cell demise has been reinforced by histological analysis of ovaries collected from mice deficient in functional BAX protein (86). These data have indicated that "knock-out" of the bax gene renders granulosa cells resistant to the normal induction of apoptosis in follicles destined for atresia (e.g. possessing degenerative oocytes) (86). These findings provide concrete proof that this cell death factor plays a fundamental role in regulating apoptosis in granulosa cells. Expression of the bcl-2 and bclx genes in granulosa cells of rodent and avian ovaries has also been reported (79,85,87), albeit the role of the proteins encoded by these genes in determining the fate of granulosa cells remains to be established.

3.2.3. Oxidative Stress During Atresia.

In keeping with the proposal that apoptosis proceeds in many tissues via a universal pathway, a followup study was conducted to complement the data derived from analysis of bcl-2-related genes in the ovary. This series of experiments reported on the potential role of reactive oxygen species as a trigger for apoptosis in granulosa cells during atresia (81). Data derived from these investigations demonstrated that the ability of FSH to suppress apoptosis in granulosa cells of rat follicles in vitro could be mimicked by addition of anti-oxidant enzymes to the culture medium. Although these data provide the first evidence that reactive oxygen species may activate the apoptotic pathway in granulosa cells, it remained unclear how large enzymes such as superoxide dismutase and catalase, when added exogenously, could convey protection from reactive oxygen species within the cell. However, recent experiments with cultured cells have demonstrated that addition of exogenous catalase to the culture medium does in fact dramatically raise the intracellular levels of catalase activity (88), thus supporting the concept that prolonged oxidative stress may be one determinant of granulosa cell demise (81). Moreover, expression of factors such as superoxide dismutase (secreted and mitochondrial) in the immature rat ovary is markedly increased in response to exogenous gonadotropin treatment

in vivo (81). Collectively, these data suggest that not only do gonadotropins enhance expression of anti-oxidant genes in the ovary, but that the defense enzymes encoded by anti-oxidant genes (*e.g.* superoxide dismutase, catalase) are as effective as gonadotropins in the suppression of granulosa cell apoptosis. However, more work is needed to characterize the pathways activated by reactive oxygen species in granulosa cells, and to elucidate how these pathways then converge with other signaling events to activate apoptosis during atresia.

3.2.4. Transcriptional Regulators in Granulosa Cells.

The role that transcriptional regulators play in the process of granulosa cell apoptosis has primarily centered on the p53 tumor suppressor protein. Two reports are currently available in the literature, one of which documents by immunocytochemical procedures the nuclear accumulation of p53 in rat granulosa cells destined for apoptosis (89). By comparison, p53 is absent in ovaries collected from gonadotropin-stimulated rats, consistent with the fact that this cell death inducer is only present in ovarian cells during episodes of apoptosis (89). In support of these data, overexpression of p53 in rat granulosa cells has been reported to trigger a rapid onset of apoptosis (90), confirming that the actions of p53 in the ovary are indeed tied to the regulation of cell death. Although nothing is known of how nuclear accumulation of p53 in granulosa cells leads to apoptosis, p53 is detectable only in follicle populations that concomitantly express high levels of bax (e.g. atretic follicles) (see 79 and 89). These data therefore suggest that the bax death gene may in fact be a target for p53 transactivation in the ovary, as has been reported for other cell types (43,45). To date there exists only a single preliminary observation describing the relationship between c-myc expression and apoptosis in granulosa cells (87). These data indicate that the levels of c-myc are highest in populations of avian granulosa cells in follicles that still retain the capacity to undergo atresia (87). Although these findings are consistent with the proposed role of c-myc in apoptosis induction (41,42), the precise functions of c-myc in granulosa cells during atresia require further investigation.

3.2.5. Protease Activation During Apoptosis in Granulosa Cells.

Only recently has the role of cytoplasmic proteases, specifically members of the ICE gene family, in the demise of granulosa cells been assessed (91). Following isolation of cDNAs encoding rat ICE, Ich-1 and CPP32, it was determined that levels of Ich-1 and CPP32 mRNA in the ovary are reduced following in vivo gonadotropin stimulation (91). By comparison, extremely low levels of ICE mRNA are detectable in ovarian homogenates and expression of this protease is not altered by gonadotropin treatment. Along these same lines, ICE activity is undetectable in either healthy or atretic ovarian antral follicles of the rat, collectively indicating that ICE per se is probably not involved in the final life-and-death decision making process in granulosa cells (91). It should also be noted that one of the primary products of ICE activity, namely active interleukin-1 β (IL1 β), has been reported to slightly but non-significantly increase basal rates of apoptosis in rat follicles cultured *in vitro*. Moreover, this cytokine does not antagonize (nor potentiate) tropic hormone-supported survival of granulosa cells in follicles *in vitro* (91), further substantiating that ICE itself is not likely involved in the survival or death of granulosa cells.

Although another recent report has suggested that IL1 β prevents apoptosis in granulosa cells of cultured rat follicles (92), interpretation of these findings is difficult for several reasons. First, the ICE/IL1B pathway is primarily linked to the induction of cell death (15). Moreover, the source of ICE activity required for generation of IL1 β from the precursor proenzyme is unknown as ICE activity is below detectable limits in rat follicles at the stage of development used for those studies (91). Lastly, previous work documents a cytotoxic effect of IL1B in rat ovarian cell dispersates (93), and these data are similar to the slight but non-significant increase in apoptosis induced by $IL1\beta$ in rat ovarian follicles reported in a separate study (91). In any case, enhanced intrafollicular activity of other members of the ICE protease family (e.g. ICH-1, CPP32) may be responsible for such endpoints as endonuclease activation (91) and disrupted messenger RNA processing (94) in granulosa cells during the initiation and progression of apoptosis.

3.3. Regression of the Corpus Luteum (CL) 3.3.1. Cell Death in the CL.

Lastly, the development of a CL following ovulation of a follicle is required for the maintenance of pregnancy (95,96). The CL functions primarily as a site for the massive synthesis of progesterone which is required for the maintenance of the uterine endometrial lining. If pregnancy does not occur, the CL predictably regresses at a specific point in the estrous or menstrual cycle (95,96), and the ensuing loss of steroid hormone support to the uterus leads to apoptosis in endometrial cells (97). Although several studies concerning cell death during luteal regression have been published, the precise role of apoptosis in the fate of the CL remains unclear. Regression of the CL occurs in two phases, the first of which is associated with the loss of progesterone synthesizing capacity. This process, known as functional regression, occurs prior to any discernible morphological changes in luteal cell integrity and is likely a reversible step if sufficient luteotropic support is provided (95.96). In contrast, the second phase of luteolysis, termed structural regression, is probably not reversible. Structural regression of the CL occurs well after the initial decline in steroid output, and is most likely the point at which apoptosis comes into play (98-101). Data to support this contention are derived from analysis of both natural and induced luteolysis in many species, with the common link being the identification of apoptosis in structurally regressing luteal tissue (98-101).

3.3.2. Control of Cell Death During Luteolysis.

To date, two key hormones appear to directly regulate the process of cell death during luteal regression: the luteolysin prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ (PGF_{2\alpha}), and the luteotropin

chorionic gonadotropin (CG). Consistent with the themes presented throughout this review, ample evidence exists which link the actions of both $PGF_{2\alpha}$ and CG to the regulation of reactive oxygen species in the CL. For example, the immediate cellular response to $PGF_{2\alpha}$ following interaction of the hormone with its receptor in luteal cells is believed to be the generation of free radical species (102). Luteal cells exposed to an environment rich in reactive oxygen species in vitro exhibit a markedly impaired ability to synthesize progesterone (103; reviewed in 104, 105), one of the hallmark features of functional luteolysis in vivo. Furthermore, prolonged oxidative stress has been suggested as a trigger for apoptosis during structural luteolysis, a hypothesis supported by several lines of investigation (101). On the other hand, treatment of rats with human CG has been reported to increase the expression of anti-oxidant enzymes in the CL (106), whereas a lack of CG support in the human CL may predispose the luteal cells to increased oxidative stress (107). These data, taken with the fact that human CG can directly suppress the occurrence of apoptosis in luteal tissue (108), strongly support that changes in the redox state of luteal cells may be one of the primary determinants of the lifespan of the CL (104,105). Although activation of other intracellular effector pathways, such as those involving changes in *bcl-2* and *c-myc* expression, have been proposed as potential mechanisms underlying luteolysis (109-111), additional studies are required to clarify the role of these signaling events in determining the fate of luteal cells.

4. CONCLUSIONS

The recent use of sophisticated molecular biological techniques to study the female reproductive system has provided unequivocal proof that the process of apoptosis is a fundamental event in normal ovarian function. The occurrence of apoptosis in germ cells, granulosa cells, and cells of the CL is most likely regulated by cell typespecific hormonal signals. However, death of all ovarian cells may share a final common pathway of intracellular effectors involving members of the bcl-2 gene family, oxidative stress response factors, transcriptional regulators, and cytoplasmic proteases. Characterization of the role of these conserved cell death regulators will provide exciting new data regarding the molecular basis of ovarian development and function. Furthermore, this knowledge may allow development of novel approaches to overcome normal and pathophysiological senescence of the ovary, and to improve the pregnancy success rates of Assisted Reproductive Technology Programs.

5. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work conducted by the author and discussed herein was supported in part by grants from the National Institutes of Health (HD31188, AG12279, ES06999, HD34226, Office of Research on Women's Health) and the American Federation for Aging Research. The author would like to thank Dr. Isaac Schiff and Ms. Kim I. Tilly (Vincent Center for Reproductive Biology, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Massachusetts General Hospital/Harvard Medical, Boston, MA) for their critical review of this article prior to its submission.

6. REFERENCES

1. D. L. Vaux: Toward an understanding of the molecular mechanisms of physiological cell death. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 90, 786-9 (1993)

2. H. Stellar: Mechanisms and genes of cellular suicide. *Science* 267, 1445-9 (1995)

3. A. H. Wyllie: The genetic regulation of apoptosis. *Curr Opin Genet Develop* 5, 97-104 (1995)

4. J. F. R. Kerr, A. H. Wyllie & A. R. Currie: Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. *Br J Cancer* 26, 239-57 (1972)

5. J. F. R. Kerr, C. M. Winterford & B. V. Harmon: Morphological criteria for identifying apoptosis. In: *Cell Biology: A Laboratory Handbook.* JE Celis (ed), Academic Press:San Diego, pp 319-29 (1994)

6. W. Bursch, S. Paffe, B. Putz, G. Barthel & R. Schulte-Hermann R: Determination of the length of the histological stages of apoptosis in normal liver and in altered hepatic foci of rats. *Carcinogenesis* 11, 847-53 (1990)

7. Z. Zakeri, D. Quaglino & H. S. Ahuja: Apoptotic cell death in the mouse limb and its suppression in the Hammertoe mutant. *Develop Biol* 165, 294-97 (1994)

8. M. J. Price, P. K. Donahoe, Y. Ito & W. H. Hendren: Programmed cell death in the Mullerian duct induced by Mullerian inhibiting substance. *Am J Anat* 149, 353-76 (1977)

9. B. Djehiche, J. Segalen & Y. Chambon: Ultrastructure of Mullerian and Wolffian ducts of fetal rabbit *in vivo* and in organ culture. *Tissue Cell* 26, 323-32 (1994)

10. M. Barinaga: Death gives birth to the nervous system. But how? *Science* 259, 762-3 (1993)

11. K. Shortman & R. Scollay: Death in the thymus. *Nature* 372, 44-5 (1994)

12. N. I. Walker, R. E. Bennett & J. F. R. Kerr: Cell death by apoptosis during involution of the lactating breast in mice and rats. *Am J Anat* 185, 19-32 (1989)

13. G. T. Williams: Programmed cell death: apoptosis and oncogenesis. *Cell* 65, 1097-8 (1991)

14. S. J. Korsmeyer: Regulators of cell death. *Trends Genet* 11, 101-5 (1995)

15. S. J. Martin & D. R. Green: Protease activation during apoptosis: death by a thousand cuts? *Cell* 82, 349-52 (1995)

Mechanisms of ovarian cell death.

16. J. C. Reed: Bcl-2 and the regulation of programmed cell death. J *Cell* Biol 124, 1-6 (1994)

17. M. O. Hengartner & H. R. Horvitz: *C. elegans* cell survival gene *ced*-9 encodes a functional homolog of the mammalian proto-oncogene *bcl-2*. *Cell* 76, 655-76 (1994)

18. Z. N. Oltvai, C. L. Milliman & S. J. Korsmeyer: Bcl-2 heterodimerizes *in vivo* with a conserved homolog, Bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. *Cell* 74, 609-19 (1993)

19. L. H. Boise, M. Gonzalez-Garcia, C. E. Postema, L. Ding, T. Lindsten, L. A. Turka, X. Mao, G. Nuñez & C. B. Thompson: Bcl-x, a *bcl-2*-related gene that functions as a dominant regulator of apoptotic cell death. *Cell* 74, 597-608 (1993)

20. K. M. Kozopas, T. Yang, H. Buchan, P. Zhou & R. W. Craig: *MCL1*, a gene expressed in programmed myeloid cell differentiation, has sequence similarity to *BCL2*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 90, 3516-20 (1993)

21. S. Takayama, T, Sato, S. Krajewski, K. Kochel, S. Irie, J. A. Millan, J. C. Reed: Cloning and functional analysis of BAG-1: a novel Bcl-2-binding protein with anti-death activity. *Cell* 80, 279-84 (1995)

22. E. Yang, J. Zha, J. Jockel, L. H. Boise, C. B. Thompson & S. J. Korsmeyer SJ: Bad, a heterodimeric partner for Bcl- x_L and Bcl-2, displaces Bax and promotes cell death. *Cell* 80, 285-91 (1995)

23. G. Gillet, M. Guerin, A. Trembleau & G. Brun: A *BCL*-2-related gene is activated in avian cells transformed by the Rous sarcoma virus. *EMBO J* 14, 1372-81 (1995)

24. S. N. Farrow, J. H. M. White, I. Martinou, T. Raven, K.-T. Pun, C. J. Grinham, J.-C. Martinou & R. Brown: Cloning of a *bcl-2* homologue by interaction with adenovirus E1B 19K. *Nature* 374, 731-3 (1995)

25. T. Chittenden, E. A. Harrington, R. O'Connor, C. Flemington, R. J. Lutz, G. I. Evan & B. C. Guild: Induction of apoptosis by the Bcl-2 homologue Bak. *Nature* 374, 733-6 (1995)

26. M. C. Kiefer, M. J. Brauer, V. C. Powers, J. J. Wu, S. R. Umansky, L. D. Tomei & P. J. Barr: Modulation of apoptosis by the widely distributed Bcl-2 homologue Bak. *Nature* 374, 736-9 (1995)

27. T. Sato, M. Hanada, S. Bodrug, S. Irie, N. Iwama, L. H. Boise, C. B. Thompson, E. Golemis, L. Fong, H.-G. Wang & J. C. Reed: Interactions among members of the Bcl-2 protein family analyzed with a yeast two-hybrid system. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 91, 9238-42 (1994)

28. T. W. Sedlak, Z. N. Oltvai, E. Yang, K. Wang, L. H. Boise, C. B. Thompson & S. J. Korsmeyer: Multiple Bcl-2 family

members demonstrate selective dimerizations with Bax. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 92, 7834-8 (1995)

29. X.-M. Yin, Z. N. Oltvai & S. J. Korsmeyer: BH1 and BH2 domains of Bcl-2 are required for inhibition of apoptosis and heterodimerization with Bax. *Nature* 369:321-3 (1994)

30. D. M. Hockenberry, G. Nunez, C. L. Milliman, R. D. Schrieber & S. J. Korsmeyer: Bcl-2 is an inner mitochondrial membrane protein that blocks programmed cell death. *Nature* 348, 334-6 (1990)

31. D. M. Hockenberry, Z. N. Oltvai, X.-M. Yin, C. L. Milliman & S. J. Korsmeyer: Bcl-2 functions in an antioxidant pathway to prevent apoptosis. *Cell* 75, 241-51 (1993)

32. D. J. Kane, T. A. Sarafian, R. Anton, H. Hahn, E. B. Gralla, J. S. Valentine, T. Ord & D. E. Bredesen: Bcl-2 inhibition of neural death: decreased generation of reactive oxygen species. *Science* 262, 1274-7 (1993)

33. H. M. Steinman: The Bcl-2 oncoprotein functions as a pro-oxidant. *J Biol Chem* 270, 3487-90 (1995)

34. G. Baffy, T. Miyashita, J. R. Williamson & J. C. Reed: Apoptosis induced by withdrawal of interleukin-3 (IL-3) from an IL-3-dependent hematopoietic cell line is associated with repartitioning of intracellular calcium and is blocked by enforced Bcl-2 oncoprotein production. *J Biol Chem* 268, 6511-9 (1993)

35. M. J. Fernandez & J. R. Bischoff: Bcl-2 associates with the ras-related protein R-ras p23. *Nature* 366, 274-5 (1993)

36. B. P. Yu: Cellular defenses against damage from reactive oxygen species. *Physiol Rev* 74, 139-62 (1994)

37. T. M. Buttke & P. A. Sandstrom: Oxidative stress as a mediator of apoptosis. *Immunol Today* 15, 7-10 (1994)

38. G. P. Zambetti & A. J. Levine: A comparison of the biological activities of wild-type and mutant p53. *FASEB J* 7, 855-65 (1993)

39. E. Yonish-Rouach, D. Resnitzky, J. Lotem, L. Sachs, A. Kimchi & M. Oren: Wild-type p53 induces apoptosis of myeloid leukaemic cells that is inhibited by interleukin-6. *Nature* 352, 345-37 (1991)

40. A. R. Clarke, C. A. Purdie, D. J. Harrison, R. G. Morris, C. C. Bird, M. L. Hooper & A. H. Wyllie: Thymocyte apoptosis induced by p53-dependent and -independent pathways. *Nature* 362, 849-52 (1993)

41. G. I. Evan, A. H. Wyllie, C. S. Gilbert, T. D. Littlewood, H. Land, M. Brooks, C. M. Waters, L. Z. Penn & D. C. Hancock: Induction of apoptosis in fibroblasts by c-myc protein. *Cell* 69, 119-28 (1992)

Mechanisms of ovarian cell death.

42. Y. Shi, J. M. Glynn, J. L. Guilbert, T. G. Cotter, R. P. Bissonnette & D. R. Green: Role for c-myc in activation-induced apoptotic cell death in T cell hybridomas. *Science* 257, 212-4 (1992)

43. T. Miyashita, S. Krajewski, M. Krajewski, H. G. Wang, H. K. Lin, D. A. Liebermann, B, Hoffman & J. C. Reed: Tumor suppressor p53 is a regulator of *bcl-2* and *bax* gene expression *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Oncogene* 9, 1799-1805 (1994)

44. T. Miyashita, M. Harigai, M. Hanada & J. C. Reed: Identification of a p53-dependent negative response element in the *bcl-2 gene. Cancer Res* 54:, 3131-5 (1994)

45. T. Miyashita & J. C. Reed: Tumor suppressor p53 is a direct transcriptional activator of the human *bax* gene. *Cell* 80, 293-9 (1995)

46. M. B. Kastan, O. Onyekwere, D. Sidransky, B. Vogelstein & R. W. Craig: Participation of p53 protein in the cellular response to DNA damage. *Cancer Res* 51, 6304-11 (1991)

47. J. Yuan, S. Shaham, S. Ledoux, H. M. Ellis & H. R. Horvitz: The *C. elegans* death gene *ced-3* encodes a protein similar to mammalian interleukin-1β-converting enzyme. *Cell* 75, 641-52 (1993)

48. M. Miura, H. Zhu, R. Rotello, E. A. Hartweig & J. Yuan: Induction of apoptosis in fibroblasts by IL-1 β -converting enzyme, a mammalian homolog of *the C. elegans* cell death gene *ced-3. Cell* 75, 653-60 (1993)

49. L. Wang, M. Miura, L. Bergeron, H. Zhu & J. Yuan: Ich-1, an ICE/*ced-3*-related gene, encodes both positive and negative regulators of programmed cell death. *Cell* 78, 739-50 (1994)

50. T. Fernandes-Alnemri, G. Litwack & E. S. Alnemri: CPP32, a novel human protein with homology to *Caenorhabditis elegans* cell death protein Ced-3 and mammalian interleukin-1 β -converting enzyme. *J Biol Chem* 269, 30761-4 (1994)

51. J. Kamens, M. Paskind, M. Hugunin, R. V. Talanian, H. Allen, D. Banach, N. Bump, M. Hackett, C. G. Johnston, P. Li, J. A. Mankovich, M. Terranova & T. Ghayur: Identification and characterization of ICH-2, a novel member of the interleukin-1 β -converting enzyme family of cysteine proteases. *J Biol Chem* 270, 15250-6 (1995)

52. C. Faucheu, A. Diu, A. W. E. Chan, A.-M. Blanchet, C. Miossec, F. Herve, V. Collard-Dutilleul, Y. Gu, R. A. Aldape, J. A. Lippke, C. Rocher, M. S.-S. Su, D. J. Livingston, T. Hercend & J.-L. Lalanne: A novel human protease similar to the interleukin-1 β converting enzyme induces apoptosis in transfected cells. *EMBO J* 14, 1914-22 (1995)

53. N. A. Munday, J. P. Vaillancourt, A. Ali, F. J. Casano, D. K. Miller, S. M. Molineaux, T.-T. Yamin, V. L. Yu & D. W. Nicholson: Molecular cloning and pro-apoptotic activity of ICE_{rel}II and ICE_{rel}III, members of the ICE-CED-3 family of cysteine proteases. *J Biol Chem* 270, 15870-6 (1995)

54. T. Fernandez-Alnemri, G. Litwack & E. S. Alnemri: *Mch-2*, a new member of the apoptotic *Ced-3/Ice* cysteine protease gene family. *Cancer Res* 55, 2737-42 (1995)

55. M. K. T. Squier, A. C. K. Miller, A. M. Malkinson & J. J. Cohen: Calpain activation in apoptosis. J *Cell* Physiol 159, 229-37 (1994)

56. T. C. Saido, H. Sorimachi & K. Suzuki: Calpain: new perspectives in molecular diversity and physiological-pathological involvement. *FASEB J* 8, 814-22 (1994)

57. Y. A. Lazebnik, S. H. Kaufmann, S. Desnoyers, G. G. Poirier & W. C. Earnshaw: Cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase by a proteinase with properties like ICE. *Nature* 371, 346-7 (1994)

58. D. W. Nicholson, A. Ali, N. A. Thornberry, J. P. Vaillancourt, C. K. Ding, M. Gallant, Y. Gareau, P. R. Griffin, M. Labelle, Y. A. Lazebnik, N. A. Munday, S. M. Raju, M. E. Smulson, T.-T. Yamin, V. L. Yu & D. K. Miller: Identification and inhibition of the ICE/CED-3 protease is necessary for mammalian apoptosis. *Nature* 376, 37-43 (1995)

59. L. A. Casciola-Rosen, D. K. Miller, G. J. Anhalt & A. Rosen: Specific cleavage of the 70-kDa protein component of the U1 small nuclear ribonucleoprotein is a characteristic biochemical feature of apoptotic cell death. *J Biol Chem* 269, 30757-60 (1994)

60. Y. A. Lazebnik, A. Takahashi, R. D. Moir, R. D. Goldman, G. G. Poirier, S. H. Kaufmann & W. C. Earnshaw WC: Studies of the lamin proteinase reveal multiple parallel biochemical pathways during apoptotic execution. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 92, 9042-6 (1995)

61. S. J. Martin, G. A. O'Brien, W. K. Nishioka, A. J. McGahon, A. Mahboubi, T. C. Saiso & D. R. Green: Proteolysis of fodrin (non-erythroid spectrin) during apoptosis. *J Biol Chem* 270, 6425-8 (1995)

62. H. M. Beaumont & A. M. Mandl: A quantitative and cytological study of oogonia and oocytes in the foetal and neonatal rat. *Proc Royal Soc London* (B) 155, 557-79 (1961)

63. A. H. Bakken & M. McClanahan: Patterns of RNA synthesis in early meiotic prophase oocytes from fetal mouse ovaries. *Chromosoma* 67, 21-40 (1978)

64. T. G. Baker: A quantitative and cytological study of germ cells in human ovaries. *Proc Royal Soc London* (B) 158, 417-33 (1963)

65. K. Borum: Oogenesis in the mouse: a study of the meiotic prophase. Exp *Cell* Res 24, 495-507 (1961)

66. J. H. M. Pinkerton, D. G. McKay, E. C. Adams & A. T. Hertig: Development of the human ovary: a study using histochemical techniques. *Obstet Gynecol* 18, 152-81 (1961)

67. E. C. Coucouvanis, S. W. Sherwood, C. Carswell-Crumpton, E. G. Spack & P. P. Jones: Evidence that the mechanism of prenatal germ cell death in the mouse is apoptosis. *Exp Cell Res* 209, 238-47 (1993)

68. M. Pesce & M. De Felici: Apoptosis in mouse primordial germ cells: a study by transmission and scanning electron microscope. *Anat Embryol* 189, 435-40 (1994)

69. M. Pesce, M. G. Farrace, M. Piacentini, S. Dolci & M. De Felici: Stem cell factor and leukemia inhibitory factor promote primordial germ cell survival by suppressing programmed cell death (apoptosis). *Development* 118, 1089-94 (1993)

70. B. Mintz & E. S. Russell: Gene-induced embryological modifications of primordial germ cells in the mouse. *J Exp Zool* 134, 207-30 (1957)

71. U. Koshimizu, M. Watanabe & N. Nakatsuji: Retinoic acid is a potent growth activator of mouse primordial germ cells *in vitro*. *Develop Biol* 168, 683-5 (1995)

72. V. S. Ratts, J. A. Flaws, R. Kolp, C. M. Sorenson & J. L. Tilly: Ablation of *bcl-2* gene expression decreases the numbers of oocytes and primordial follicles established in the post-natal female mouse gonad. *Endocrinology* 136, 3665-8 (1995)

73. J. L. Tilly: Ovarian follicular atresia: a model to study the mechanisms of physiological cell death. *Endocr J* (Endocrine) 1, 67-72 (1993)

74. A. G. S. Byskov: *Cell* kinetic studies of follicular atresia in the mouse ovary. *J Reprod Fertil* 37, 277-85 (1974)
75. A. N. Hirshfield: *Development* of follicles in the mammalian ovary. *Int Rev Cytol* 124, 43-101 (1991)

76. J. L. Tilly, K. I. Kowalski, A. L. Johnson & A. J. W. Hsueh: Involvement of apoptosis in ovarian follicular atresia and postovulatory regression. *Endocrinology* 129, 2799-2801 (1991)

77. F. M. Hughes Jr. & W. C. Gorospe: Biochemical identification of apoptosis (programmed cell death) in granulosa cells: evidence for a potential mechanism underlying follicular atresia. *Endocrinology* 129, 2415-22 (1991)

78. J. L. Tilly, H. Billig, K. I. Kowalski & A. J. W. Hsueh: Epidermal growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor suppress the spontaneous onset of apoptosis in cultured rat ovarian granulosa cells and follicles by a tyrosine kinasedependent mechanism. *Mol Endocrinol* 6, 1942-50 (1992)

79. J. L. Tilly, K. I. Tilly, M. L. Kenton & A. L. Johnson: Expression of members of the *bcl-2* gene family in the immature rat ovary: equine chorionic gonadotropin-mediated inhibition of

apoptosis is associated with decreased *bax* and constitutive *bcl-2* and *bcl-x*_{long} messenger ribonucleic acid levels. *Endocrinology* 136, 232-41 (1995)

80. S.-Y. Chun, H. Billig, J. L. Tilly, I. Furuta, A. Tsafriri & A. J. W. Hsueh: Gonadotropin suppression of apoptosis in cultured preovulatory follicles: mediatory role of endogenous insulin-like growth factor-I. *Endocrinology* 135, 1845-53 (1994)

81. J. L. Tilly & K. I. Tilly: Inhibitors of oxidative stress mimic the ability of follicle-stimulating hormone to suppress apoptosis in cultured rat ovarian follicles. *Endocrinology* 136, 242-52 (1995)

82. A. M. Luciano, A. Pappalardo, C. Ray & J. J. Peluso: Epidermal growth factor inhibits large granulosa cell apoptosis by stimulating progesterone synthesis and regulating the distribution of intracellular free calcium. Biol Reprod 51, 646-54 (1994)

83. J. A. Flaws, A. DeSanti, K. I. Tilly, R. O. Javid, K. Kugu, A. L. Johnson, A. N. Hirshfield & J. L. Tilly: Vasoactive intestinal peptide-mediated suppression of apoptosis in the ovary: potential mechanisms of action and evidence of a conserved antiatretogenic role through evolution. *Endocrinology* 136, 4351-9 (1995)

84. K. M. Eisenhauer, S.-Y. Chun, H. Billig & A. J. W. Hsueh: Growth hormone suppression of apoptosis in preovulatory rat follicles and partial neutralization by insulin-like growth factor binding protein. *Biol Reprod* 53, 13-20 (1995)

85. A. L. Johnson & J. L. Tilly: Expression of *bcl-x* protooncogene mRNA in granulosa cells during ovarian follicle development. *Biol Reprod* (Suppl 1) 50, 93 (1994).

86. C. M. Knudson, K. S. K. Tung, W. G. Tourtellotte, G. A. J. Brown & S. J. Korsmeyer: Bax-deficient mice with lymphoid hyperplasia and male germ cell death. *Science* 270, 96-9 (1995) 87. A. L. Johnson, Z. Li & J. L. Tilly: Expression of *c-myc* and *bcl-2* mRNA during ovarian follicle development. *Biol Reprod* (Suppl 1) 48, 152 (1993)

88. M. Sundaresan, Z.-X. Yu, V. J. Ferrans, K. Irani & T. Finkel: Requirement for generation of H_2O_2 for platelet-derived growth factor signal transduction. *Science* 270, 296-9 (1995)

89. K. I. Tilly, S. Banerjee, P. P. Banerjee & J. L. Tilly: Expression of the p53 and Wilms' tumor suppressor genes in the rat ovary: gonadotropin repression *in vivo* and immunohistochemical localization of nuclear p53 protein to apoptotic granulosa cells of atretic follicles. *Endocrinology* 136, 1394-1402 (1995)

90. I. Keren-Tal, B.-S. Suh, A. Dantes, S. Lindner, M. Oren & A. Amsterdam: Involvement of p53 expression in cAMPmediated apoptosis in immortalized granulosa cells. *Exp Cell Res* 218, 283-95 (1995) 91. J. A. Flaws, K. Kugu, A. M. Trbovich, K. I. Tilly, A. DeSanti, A. N. Hirshfield & J. L. Tilly: Interleukin-1bconverting enzyme-related proteases (IRPs) and mammalian cell death: dissociation of IRP-induced oligonucleosomal endonuclease activity from morphological apoptosis in granulosa cells of the ovarian follicle. *Endocrinology* 136, 5042-53 (1995)

92. S.-Y. Chun, K. M. Eisenhauer, M. Kubo & A. J. W. Hsueh: Interleukin-1 β suppresses apoptosis in rat ovarian follicles by increasing nitric oxide production. *Endocrinology* 136, 3120-8 (1995)

93. A. Hurwitz, E. R. Hernandez, D. W. Payne, A. M. Dharmarajan & E. Y. Adashi: Interleukin-1 is both morphogenic and cytotoxic to cultured rat ovarian cells: obligatory role for heterologous, contact-independent cell-cell interaction. *Endocrinology* 131, 1643-9 (1992)

94. A. M. Trbovich & J. L. Tilly: Specific cleavage of U1 small nuclear ribonucleoprotein (SNRP) during ovarian granulosa cell apoptosis and follicular atresia. *Proceedings from the 77th Annual Meeting of the Endocrine Society*, Washington, DC, p 74 (1995)

95. I. Rothchild: The regulation of the mammalian corpus luteum. *Rec Prog Horm Res* 37, 183-298 (1981)

96. J. L. Pate: Cellular components involved in luteolysis. J Anim Sci 72, 1884-90 (1994)

97. N. Terada, R. Yamamoto, T. Takada, T. Miyake, N. Terakawa, H. Wakimoto, H. Taniguchi, W. Li, Y. Kitamura & K. Matsumoto: Inhibitory effect of progesterone on cell death of mouse uterine epithelium. *J Steroid Biochem* 33, 1091-6 (1989)

98. D. J. Orlicky, L. Fisher, N. Dunscomb & G. J. Miller: Immunohistochemical localization of PGF_{2a} receptor in the rat ovary. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes, Essential Fatty Acids* 46, 223-9 (1992)

99. J. L. Juengel, H. A. Garverick, A. L. Johnson, R. S. Youngquist & M. F. Smith: Apoptosis during luteal regression in cattle. *Endocrinology* 132, 249-54 (1993)

100. B. R. Rueda, J. A. Wegner, S. L. Marion, D. D. Wahlen & P. B. Hoyer: Internucleosomal DNA fragmentation in ovine luteal tissue associated with luteolysis: *in vivo* and *in vitro* analyses. *Biol Reprod* 52, 305-12 (1995)

101. B. R. Rueda, K. I. Tilly, T. R. Hansen, P. B. Hoyer & J. L. Tilly: Expression of superoxide dismutase, catalase and glutathione peroxidase in the bovine corpus luteum: evidence supporting a role for oxidative stress in luteolysis. *Endocrine* 3, 227-32 (1995)

102. M. Sawada & J. C. Carlson: Rapid plasma membrane changes in superoxide radical formation, fluidity, and phospolipase A_2 activity in the corpus luteum of the rat

during induction of luteolysis. *Endocrinology* 128, 2992-8 (1991)

103. B. Musicki, R. F. Aten & H. R. Behrman: Inhibition of protein synthesis and hormone-sensitive steroidogenesis in response to hydrogen peroxide in rat luteal cells. *Endocrinology* 134, 588-95 (1994)

104. J. C. M. Riley & H. R. Behrman: Oxygen radicals and reactive oxygen species in reproduction. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 198, 781-91 (1991)

105. J. C. Carlson, X. M. Wu & M. Sawada: Oxygen radicals and the control of ovarian corpus luteum function. *Free Rad Biol Med* 14, 78-84 (1993)

106. M. Laloraya, K. G. Pradeep & M. M. Laloraya: Changes in the levels of superoxide anion radical and superoxide dismutase during the estrous cycle of *Rattus norvegicus* and induction of superoxide dismutase in the rat ovary by lutropin. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 157, 146-53 (1988)

107. M. Vega, M. Castillo, I. Retamales, J. las Heras, L. Devoto & L. A. Videla: Steroidogenic capacity and oxidative stress-related parameters in human luteal cell regression. *Free Rad Biol Med* 17, 493-9 (1994)

108. A. M. Dharmarajan, S. B. Goodman, K. I. Tilly & J. L. Tilly: Apoptosis during functional corpus luteum regression: evidence of a role for chorionic gonadotropin in promoting luteal cell survival. *Endocr J (Endocrine)* 2, 295-303 (1994)

109. H. M. Fraser, S. F. Lunn, G. M. Cowen & P. J. Illingworth: Induced luteal regression in the primate: evidence for apoptosis and changes in c-myc protein. *J Endocrinol* 147, 131-7 (1995)

110. F. E. Rodger, H. M. Fraser, W. C. Duncan & P. J. Illingworth PJ: Immunolocalization of Bcl-2 in the human corpus luteum. *Human Reprod* 10:1566-70 (1995)

111. B. R. Rueda, K. I. Tilly, P. B. Hoyer, T. R. Hansen & J. L. Tilly: Superoxide dismutase and cell death gene expression in the ovine and bovine corpus luteum: a role for oxidative stress in luteolysis. *Proceedings from the Xth Ovarian Workshop, Serono Symposia (USA)*, University of Michigan-Ann Arbor, p 27 (1994)